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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 
 
 

PHILIP SMITH, individually and on behalf of 
all others similarly situated, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
E-FILLIATE, INC., 
 
 Defendant. 
 

 Case No.  
 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
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1

 Plaintiff Philip Smith (“Plaintiff”) brings this action on behalf of himself, and all 

others similarly situated against Defendant E-Filliate, Inc. (“Defendant”) for the manufacture, 

distribution, and sale of the DeWALT Jobsite Pro Wireless Earphones (the “Product”).  Plaintiff 

makes the following allegations pursuant to the investigation of his counsel and based upon 

information and belief, except as to the allegations specifically pertaining to himself, which is 

based on personal knowledge. 

NATURE OF ACTION 
 

1. This is a class action complaint against Defendant for the manufacture, distribution, 

and sale of the Jobsite Pro Wireless Earphones sold under the DeWALT brand, all of which suffer 

from an identical defect in design.  Specifically, the Products are prone to overheating during 

charging or use and create the potential for a burn or fire hazard.  Earphones that pose such a 

hazard are unreasonably dangerous compared to the utility of the Product.  Moreover, such a defect 

can render the Product unusable during periods of overheating.  As such, this defect rendered the 

Product unsuitable for its principal and intended purpose.  Further, had Plaintiff been aware of this 

serious defect, he would not have purchased the Product, or would have paid significantly less for 

it. 

2. On December 1, 2021, the United States Consumer Product Safety Commission 

(“CPSC”) issued a recall notice of approximately 301,800 units of the Products due to the prevalent 

nature of the defect (the “Product Recall”). 

3. Plaintiff brings his claims against Defendant individually and on behalf of a class of 

all other similarly situated purchasers of the Product for (i) violation of New York General 

Business Law § 349; (ii) violation of New York General Business Law § 350;  

(iii) breach of implied warranty; (iv) violation of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act; and (v) unjust 

enrichment. 
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PARTIES 
 

4. Plaintiff Philip Smith is, and at all times relevant to this action has been, a resident 

of Rochester, New York and a domiciliary of New York.  On or about December of 2020, Mr. 

Smith purchased a pair of the DeWALT Jobsite Pro Wireless Earphones from a Lowe’s hardware 

store located in Greece, New York.  Mr. Smith purchased the Product because he believed it was fit 

for use as earphones.  However, the Product Mr. Smith purchased was not fit for use as earphones 

due to the Product’s risk of overheating.  Mr. Smith’s belief that the earphones were fit for their 

intended purpose formed the basis of the bargain, and Mr. Smith would not have purchased the 

Product or would have paid significantly less for the Product had he known that the Product was 

unfit to perform its intended purpose.   

5. The Product that Mr. Smith purchased began to malfunction shortly after he 

purchased it because the Product would overheat during use.  The Product that Mr. Smith 

purchased does not contain a manufacturer code and is included in the Product Recall. 

6. Mr. Smith reviewed the Product’s packaging prior to purchase.  Defendant disclosed 

on the packaging that the Product was an earphone and described features typical of earphones but 

did not disclose the defect.  Had there been a disclosure, Mr. Smith would not have purchased the 

Product because the defect would have been material to him, or at the very least, he would have 

purchased the Product at a substantially reduced price.  Mr. Smith relied on the packaging in 

making his purchase decision. 

7. Mr. Smith did not submit a claim through the CPSC.  Mr. Smith contacted 

DeWALT for information regarding a refund for the Product but did not receive any such 

information.  The remedy offered by the recall was insufficient because it only provided a 

replacement, as opposed to a full refund for the defective earphones.  Mr. Smith is also entitled to 

statutory damages under New York law.    
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8. Plaintiff suffered economic injury from the Product Defect because he purchased an 

item that was worth less than what had been represented to him. 

9. Defendant E-Filliate, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of 

business at 11321 White Rock Road, Rancho Cordova, California 95742.  Defendant markets, 

distributes, and sells the Product throughout the United States and the State of New York.  

Defendant sells the Product directly to consumers through several retail stores, including Lowe’s, 

Home Depot, True Value, Aubuchon Hardware, Orgill, and Mid-States. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

10. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1332(d) because there are more than 100 class members and the aggregate amount in controversy 

exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest, fees, and costs, and at least one Class member is a 

citizen of a state different from Defendants. 

11. This Court has general personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant has 

its principal place of business in this District.  

12. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because it is a judicial 

District in which Defendant resides.  

COMMON FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 
 
The Overheating Defect         
 

13. Defendant E-Filliate, Inc. is a manufacturing company that partners with several 

brand name companies, including DeWALT.  Among the various items manufactured and sold by 

E-Filliate is the Jobsite Wireless Pro Earphone sold under the DeWALT brand, which is the 

Product at issue here. 

14. The Product is primarily sold at retail stores across the country, including Lowe’s, 

Home Depot, True Value, Aubuchon Hardware, Orgill, and Mid-States. 
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15. The Product was made with a design defect, causing the Product to overheat, posing 

a significant hazard for burns and fires (hereinafter, the “Product Defect”).  The Product Defect 

was substantially likely to materialize during the useful life of the Product.  

16. Over 300,000 units of the Product were sold in the U.S. at approximately $65 each. 

17. Upon information and belief, Defendant sold a large number of the Products, and 

thus profited enormously from their failure to disclose the Product Defect sooner.     

18. The Product Defect at issue here involves a critical safety-related component of the 

Product, and it was unsafe to use the Product with the design defect.  Defendant had knowledge of 

the defect, which was not known to Plaintiffs or class members. 

19. Defendant made partial representations to Plaintiff and class members, while 

suppressing the safety defect.  Specifically, by displaying the Product and describing its features, 

the product packaging implied that the Product was suitable for use as an earphone, without 

disclosing that it had a critical safety-related defect that could result in harm to users of the 

Product.    

The Inadequate Recall Of The Product      

20. In December of 2021, there was a recall of the Product. 

21. The recall was due to a serious injury and safety hazard associated with the Product.  

Specifically, it was admitted that its Product had a defect in design and materials that caused the 

earphones to overheat.  This resulted in numerous reports of burns and fires associated with the 

defect.   

22. The entirety of the recall remedy available to consumers was the ability to contact 

the Product manufacturer for a replacement, on the condition that the original product be shipped to 

Defendant.  No financial compensation was offered to consumers. 
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